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‘Andrew Roberts’s magisterial study… Roberts sets out to explore each man’s contrasting qualities and their opinion of each other. In the process he has uncovered a number of corporeal connections: some enchanting, some mysterious, and others unsavoury’


Roger Hutchinson, Scotsman



‘Andrew Roberts’ Napoleon and Wellington is lively and controversial, like all his writing, as well as being extremely readable’


Antonia Fraser, Irish Times



‘The sheer energy of Andrew Roberts is enough to make lesser historians weep… this sparkling, elegant study of Wellington and Napoleon… This book explores the relationship between two military heroes, two of the most famous opponents of history… It’s part comparative biography, part study of a rivalry. The thesis is that in spite of all their differences, Napoleon and Wellington were more alike than either they or their partisans cared to admit… Roberts has a good eye for detail and anecdote, and he gives some fascinating glimpses of the two men… This is narrative history, readable, well-researched and lively as dry champagne’


Jane Ridley, Spectator



‘Thoroughly enjoyable, beautifully written and meticulously researched. Roberts reveals both men as appalling human beings. Wellington is a viciously snobbish anti-intellectual, Napoleon a brutal megalomaniac who thought nothing of marching thousands of men to their deaths. Comparing their ideas and careers is illuminating and Roberts does it well’


Jason Burke, Observer



‘Andrew Roberts, the political biographer whose life of Lord Salisbury won him the Wolfson Prize for 1999, now brings the same qualities of insight and judgement to the field of military history’


Correlli Barnett, Sunday Telegraph



‘Andrew Roberts has entered the lists of Napoleonic historians, tilted at champions and sent many away with bruised and broken bones. Some of them may never recover’


Allan Mallinson, The Times



‘Beautifully written, stuffed full with a fabulous cast, and proceeding by a series of excellent anecdotes … Roberts is so skilled at his craft that he is able to provide much that might be expected of a biographer… without being distracted from his task. Instead, he has shown how his approach can be used to throw much light on both men. This is not simply a war of quotations. Roberts also focuses on other aspects of their relationship, including sexual competition and provides his own judicious commentary… truly a brilliant work’


Jeremy Black, History Today



‘Roberts shows that the war between the United Kingdom and the French Empire was not only a war between two armies, two political systems and two views of Europe, but also a personal clash between two men. He compares not only their careers and their generalship at Waterloo but also, in his most fascinating chapters, their subsequent comments on each other to friends and historians… Roberts brings a fresh eye to the battlefields of Napoleonic Europe’


Philip Mansel, Mail on Sunday



‘Roberts’s book does have a new focus on the subject. This work is, in the author’s words, “not a joint biography, but rather a study in beliefs and rivalry, propaganda and rancour”. It dispels several myths, such as that of Napoleon’s invincible genius, which supposedly led to his alleged overconfidence on the morning of Waterloo, and – conversely – the myth of Wellington’s modesty and gentlemanliness… There are many fascinating scenes and quotations describing both the great generals in their retirement, polishing their own reputations, and, as Roberts eloquently puts it, adding “barnacles to a well-sailed tale”. Andrew Roberts is both diligent in his research and scholarly. In spite of the limited focus he has imposed on his book, he helps the reader with an excellent and detailed comparative chronology of the Emperor’s and the Duke’s careers. His twelve-page bibliography shows how intelligently he has selected from this potentially huge subject’


Claus von Bulow, Literary Review



‘Andrew Roberts… has found a new means of relating the generals who never met, except, vicariously, at Waterloo. He has told the story of what they thought of each other… what he gives his reader is a wonderful account of a relationship that occurred in two men’s heads’


Timothy Wilson-Smith, The Tablet



‘Andrew Roberts’ Napoleon and Wellington draws us right into the minds of two of the world’s greatest generals. Roberts is an excellent non-academic historian’


Melvyn Bragg, BBC History Magazine



‘Roberts’s research into every detail of his protagonists’ oblique relationship… is impressive and his bibliography long… As between Napoleon and Wellington, the book is commendably impartial’


John Spurling, TLS
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Andrew Roberts took a first in Modern History at Cambridge. He has been a professional historian since the publication of his life of Lord Halifax, The Holy Fox, in 1991, followed by Eminent Churchillians in 1994. He contributes regularly to the Sunday Telegraph, lives in Knightsbridge, London, and has two children. His Salisbury won the Wolfson History Prize in 2000. His books include Napoleon and Wellington in 2001, Hitler and Churchill (based on BBC 2 series) in 2003 and What Might Have Been (editor) in 2004. His History of the English Speaking Peoples Since 1900 was published in 2006 and won the Walter Bagehot Prize.
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Napoleon



(compiled with grateful acknowledgments to Felix Markham)






	1769

	
AUG 15

	Born






	1779

	
JAN 1

	Attends religious school at Autun






	 

	
MAY 15

	Attends cadet school at Brienne






	1784

	
OCT 30

	Enters École Militaire, Paris, as cadet-gentilhomme







	1785

	
FEB 24

	Father dies of stomach cancer






	 

	
SEP 1

	Leaves École Militaire as sous-lieutenant of artillery






	1786

	
SEP 1

	Goes to Corsica on leave (until June 1788)






	1789

	
JUL 14

	The storming of the Bastille






	 

	
SEP 15

	Returns to Corsica






	1790

	
JUL 14

	On Paoli’s return to Corsica, N. initially adhered to him






	1791

	
FEB 10

	Returns to regimental duty at Auxonne






	 

	
APR 1

	Promoted premier lieutenant







	 

	
JUL 6

	Takes oath of allegiance to National Assembly






	1792

	
APR 1

	Elected lieutenant-colonel, 2nd Battalion of Corsican Volunteers






	 

	
AUG 10

	Witness to massacre of the Swiss Guards at the Tuileries






	 

	
AUG 19

	Prussians invade France (defeated at Valmy on Sep 20)










Wellington



(compiled with grateful acknowledgments to Elizabeth Longford)






	1769

	
MAY I
circa


	Born






	1781

	MAY

	Father dies






	 

	OCT

	Enters Eton






	1784

	 

	Leaves Eton and goes to Brighton for tutoring






	1785

	 

	Goes to Brussels with his mother






	1786

	
JAN 16

	Enters School of Equitation, Angers, Anjou (until the end of the year)






	1787

	
MAR 17

	Gazetted ensign in the 73rd Highland Regiment






	 

	
DEC 25

	Promoted lieutenant






	1788

	FEB

	Arrives in Dublin as aide-de-camp to the viceroy






	1790

	APR

	Elected MP for Trim in Ireland






	1791

	
JUN 30

	Promoted captain






	
1793

	
JAN 21

	Execution of King Louis XVI






	 

	
FEB I

	Convention declares war on Britain and Holland






	 

	
MAR 3

	Breaks with Paoli






	 

	
MAY 31

	Reign of Terror starts in Paris under the Committee of Public Safety






	 

	
JUN 13

	Arrives with family in Toulon from Corsica






	 

	
AUG 27

	Toulon handed over to British by Royalists






	 

	
SEP 16

	Given command of artillery besieging Toulon






	 

	
OCT 18

	Promoted chef de battailon







	 

	
DEC 17–19

	Toulon recaptured






	 

	
DEC 22

	Promoted général de brigade







	1794

	
FEB 6

	Given command of the artillery of the Army of Italy






	 

	
JUL 27

	
Coup d’état of 9 Thermidor, Year II






	 

	
JUL 28

	Execution of Robespierre ends the Terror






	 

	
AUG 9–2O

	Imprisoned at Antibes on treachery charges






	1795

	
MAY 2

	Leaves Italy for Paris






	 

	
OCT 5

	Day of the Sections insurrection put down by ‘whiff of grapeshot’






	 

	
OCT 16

	Promoted général de division







	 

	
OCT 26

	Appointed to command the Army of the Interior






	 

	
OCT 30

	Directory replaces the Convention as government of France






	1796

	
MAR 2

	Appointed to command the Army of Italy






	 

	
MAR 9

	Marries Josephine de Beauharnais






	 

	
MAR 26

	Assumes command of the Army of Italy






	 

	
APR 12

	Defeats Austrians at Montenotte






	 

	
APR 13

	Defeats Sardinians at Millésimo






	 

	
APR 14–15

	Defeats Austrians at Dego






	 

	
MAY 10

	Defeats Austrians at Lodi






	 

	
MAY 15

	Enters Milan






	 

	
AUG 2–3

	Defeats Austrians at Lonato






	 

	
AUG 5

	Defeats Austrians at Castiglione






	 

	
NOV 15–17

	Defeats Austrians at Arcole






	1797

	
JAN 14

	Defeats Austrians at Rivoli






	 

	
FEB 19

	Signs the treaty of Tolentino with the pope






	 

	
MAY 16

	Occupies Venice






	
1793

	
APR 30

	Promoted major






	 

	
SEP 30

	Promoted lieutenant-colonel






	1794

	JUNE

	Commands a brigade in Flanders






	 

	
SEP 15

	Fights first engagement at Boxtel






	1795

	MAR

	Returns home






	1796

	
MAY 3

	Promoted colonel






	 

	JUN

	Sails to India in command of the 33rd Regiment of Foot






	1797

	FRB

	Arrives in Calcutta






	
 

	
SEP 14

	
Coup d’état of 18 Fructidor, Year V






	 

	
OCT 17

	Peace treaty of Campo Formio between France and Austria






	 

	
OCT 27

	Appointed to command the Army of England






	1798

	
FEB 23

	Advises Directory against invading England






	 

	
APR 12

	Appointed to command the Army of the Orient






	 

	
JUNE 12

	Annexes Malta






	 

	
JUL 1

	Disembarks at Alexandria






	 

	
JUL 21

	Defeats Mamelukes at the battle of the Pyramids






	 

	
AUG 1

	French naval squadron destroyed by Nelson at the battle of the Nile






	 

	
DEC 2

	Second Coalition formed against France






	1799

	
FEB 20

	Advances into Palestine






	 

	
MAR 7

	Captures Jaffa and massacres Turkish prisoners






	 

	
MAR 18

	Besieges Acre






	 

	
MAY 17

	Abandons the siege of Acre, returns to Cairo (on Jun 14)






	 

	
AUG 23

	Leaves Egypt for France (landing, Oct 9)






	 

	
NOV 9–10

	Becomes consul after the 18th Brumaire Year VIII coup d’état







	 

	
DEC 12

	Constitution of the Year VIII; first consul for ten years






	1800

	
FEB 19

	Takes up residence in the Tuileries Palace






	 

	
MAR 14

	Pius VII elected pope






	 

	
MAY 15–20

	Crosses the Great St Bernard Pass






	 

	
JUNE 14

	Defeats the Austrians at Marengo






	 

	
DEC 24

	Survives assassination attempt in Paris






	1801

	
FEB 9

	Peace of Lunéville between France and Austria






	 

	APR

	Establishes invasion camp at Boulogne






	 

	
APR 2

	Nelson destroys the Danish fleet at Copenhagen






	 

	
OCT 1

	Preliminary Anglo-French peace treaty






	1802

	
JAN 26

	Becomes president of the Italian Republic






	 

	
MAR 25

	Peace of Amiens between France and Britain






	 

	
MAY 19

	Institutes the légion d’honneur







	
1799

	
MAY 4

	Seringapatam stormed and Tippoo Sultan killed. Becomes governor of Mysore






	1800

	
SEP 10

	Defeats Dhoondiah Waugh






	1802

	
APR 29

	Promoted major-general






	
 

	
AUG 2

	Proclaimed first consul for life Annexes Elba






	 

	
SEP 2

	Annexes Piedmont






	 

	
OCT 15

	France invades Switzerland






	1803

	
MAR 11

	Orders two flotillas for invasion of Britain






	 

	
MAY 16

	Britain declares war on France






	 

	
AUG 23

	Invasion camps and flotillas assembled






	1804

	FEB

	Generals Moreau and Pichegru arrested






	 

	
MAR 21

	Duc d’Enghien kidnapped and executed






	 

	
MAR 24

	Promulgation of the Code Civil (also known as the Code Napoléon)






	 

	
MAY 18

	Proclaimed emperor of the French






	 

	
MAY 19

	Eighteen marshals of the Empire created






	 

	
DEC 2

	Crowned emperor at Notre Dame in presence of Pope Pius VII






	1805

	
MAY 26

	Crowns himself King of Italy in Milan Cathedral






	 

	
AUG 3

	At Boulogne, waiting to invade Britain






	 

	
AUG 9

	Austria joins Britain and Russia in the War of the Third Coalition






	 

	
AUG 23

	Breaks camp at Boulogne to march east






	 

	
OCT 20

	Defeats the Austrians at Ulm






	 

	
OCT 21

	Battle of Trafalgar






	 

	
NOV 14

	Enters Vienna






	 

	
DEC 2

	Defeats the Austrians and Russians at Austerlitz






	 

	
DEC 15

	Convention of Schönbrunn between France and Prussia






	 

	
DEC 27

	Treaty of Pressburg between France and Austria






	1806

	
JAN 23

	Death of William Pitt the Younger






	 

	
JUL 12

	Becomes ‘Protector’ of the newly created Confederation of the Rhine






	 

	
AUG 6

	Dissolution of the Holy Roman Empire






	 

	
OCT 7

	Invades Saxony and Prussia






	 

	
OCT 14

	Defeats Prussians and Saxons at Jena






	 

	
OCT 27

	Enters Berlin






	
1803

	
AUG 3

	Second Mahratta War against Scindia of Gwalior and allies






	 

	
SEP 23

	Victory at Assaye






	 

	
NOV 29

	Victory at Argaum






	 

	
DEC 15

	Surrender of Gawilghur






	1804

	SEP

	Knighted






	1805

	
MAR 10

	Returns home, calling at St Helena on the way






	 

	
SEP 10

	Reaches England






	 

	DEC

	Takes a brigade to the Elbe






	1806

	
JAN 30

	Succeeds Lord Cornwallis as colonel of the 33 rd Regiment






	 

	FEB

	Returns from the continent. Posted to Hastings






	 

	
APR 1

	Elected MP for Rye






	 

	
APR 10

	Marries Kitty Pakenham in Dublin






	
 

	
NOV 21

	Berlin Decrees create the Continental System






	 

	
DEC l8

	Enters Warsaw






	1807

	
FEB 8

	Indecisive battle against the Russians and Prussians at Eylau






	 

	
JUN 14

	Defeats Russians and Prussians at Friedland






	 

	
JUN 24

	Confers with Alexander I and Frederick William II on a raft on the River Niemen






	 

	
JULY 7–9

	Treaty of Tilsit between France, Russia and Prussia






	 

	
NOV 19

	France invades Portugal






	 

	
NOV 30

	Junot occupies Lisbon






	1808

	
FEB 16

	France invades Spain






	 

	
MAR 18

	Charles IV of Spain forced to abdicate; Ferdinand VII declared king






	 

	
MAY 2–5

	Anti-French revolt in Madrid, put down by Murat






	 

	
JUN 6

	Joseph Bonaparte proclaimed King of Spain






	 

	
OCT 6

	Alliance between France and Russia at Erfurt






	 

	
NOV 5

	Assumes command of the Army of Spain






	 

	
NOV 23

	Defeats Spaniards at Tudela






	 

	
DEC 4

	Enters Madrid






	 

	
DEC 21

	Crosses the Guadarrama in pursuit of Sir John Moore






	1809

	
JAN 16

	Moore dies at the battle of Corunna, but British evacuate






	 

	
JAN 24

	Leaves Valladolid for France






	 

	
MAY 13

	Enters Vienna






	 

	
MAY 17

	Annexes the Papal States






	 

	
MAY 20–23

	Defeated by Austrians at Aspern-Essling






	 

	
JUL 5–6

	Defeats Austrians at Wagram






	 

	
OCT 14

	Treaty of Schönbrunn between France and Austria






	 

	DEC

	Divorces Josephine by act of Senate






	1810

	
APR 2

	Marries Archduchess Marie Louise of Austria






	 

	
APR 17

	Marshal Masséna appointed to command the Army of Portugal






	 

	
JUL 9

	Annexes Holland






	 

	AUG

	Annexes Westphalia






	1807

	
FEB 3

	
A son, Richard Arthur Wellesley, born






	 

	
APR 3

	Joins the Duke of Portland’s ministry as Chief Secretary for Ireland






	 

	
JUL 31

	Danish Expedition (until Sep 30)






	1808

	
APR 25

	Promoted lieutenant-general






	 

	
JUL 12

	Placed in temporary command of expeditionary force to Portugal






	 

	
AUG 1

	Lands in Mondego Bay, Portugal






	 

	
AUG 17

	Defeats General Delaborde at Roliça






	 

	
AUG 21

	Defeats General Junot at Vimeiro and is afterwards superseded






	 

	
AUG 31

	Convention of Cintra; W. recalled to face an inquiry






	1809

	
APR 26

	Lands at Lisbon with a new British army






	 

	
MAY 12

	Crosses the Douro and defeats Soult at Oporto






	 

	
JUN 27

	Enters Spain






	 

	
JUL 6

	Appointed marshal-general of the Portuguese army






	 

	
JUL 27–28

	Defeats King Joseph and Marshal Jourdan at Talavera






	 

	
SEP 4

	Created Viscount Wellington of Talavera Secret construction of the Lines of Torres Vedras






	1810

	
SEP 27

	Defeats Marshal Masséna at Busaco






	 

	
OCT 8

	Enters the Lines of Torres Vedras






	 

	DEC

	Annexes north-west Germany






	
1811

	JAN

	Annexes Oldenburg






	 

	
MAR 20

	Birth of François-Charles-Joseph, King of Rome






	1812

	
JAN 10

	Occupies Swedish Pomerania






	 

	
JUN 24

	Crosses the River Niemen into Russia






	 

	
AUG 18

	Captures Smolensk






	 

	
SEP 7

	Battle of Borodino






	 

	
SEP 14

	Enters Moscow, which burns until 19th






	 

	
OCT 19

	Evacuation of Moscow; the retreat begins






	 

	
NOV 14–18

	Defeated by Russians at Krasnoi






	 

	
NOV 26–28

	Disaster crossing the River Beresina






	 

	
DEC 5

	Leaves the Grande Armée






	 

	
DEC 18

	Arrives in Paris






	1813

	
MAR 16

	Prussia declares war on France






	 

	
MAY 2

	Defeats Russians at Lützen






	 

	
MAY 20–21

	Defeats Russians and Prussians at Bautzen






	 

	
JUN 4

	Armistice of Pleischwitz brokered by Metternich






	 

	
AUG 12

	Austria declares war on France






	 

	
AUG 26–27

	Defeats Russians and Austrians at Dresden






	 

	
OCT 16–19

	Defeated by Austrians, Russians, Prussians and Swedes at Leipzig






	 

	
OCT 18

	Bavaria and Saxony join the Allies






	1814

	
FEB 10

	Defeats Russians at Champaubert






	 

	
FEB 11

	Defeats Russians and Prussians at Montmirail






	 

	
FEB 12

	Defeats Russians and Prussians at Château-Thierry






	 

	
FEB 14

	Defeats Russians and Prussians at Vauchamps






	 

	
FEB 18

	Defeats Westphalians and Austrians at Montereau






	 

	
MAR 1

	Treaty of Chaumont between the Allies






	 

	
MAR 30–31

	Allies enter Paris






	1811

	
MAR 5

	Masséna begins retreat from Portugal to Spain






	 

	
MAY 3–5

	Defeats Masséna at Fuentes d’Oñoro






	 

	
MAY 10

	Marshal Marmont takes over Army of Portugal






	 

	
MAY 11

	Almeida fortress surrenders






	 

	
MAY 16

	Marshal Beresford defeats Marshal Soult at Albuera






	1812

	
JAN 8–19

	Captures Ciudad Rodrigo






	 

	FEB

	Created Earl of Wellington and Duque de Ciudad Rodrigo






	 

	
APR 6

	Storms Badajoz (besieged since Mar 16)






	 

	
MAY 11

	Spencer Perceval assassinated; Lord Liverpool becomes first lord of the Treasury






	 

	
JUL 22

	Defeats Marmont at Salamanca






	 

	
AUG 12

	Enters Madrid






	 

	
AUG 18

	Created Marquess of Wellington






	 

	
SEP 19

	Unsuccessful siege of Burgos (until Oct 21)






	 

	
SEP 22

	Appointed generalissimo of Spanish Armies






	 

	
OCT 22

	Retreat from Burgos (until Nov 19)






	1813

	
MAR 4

	Awarded the Order of the Garter






	 

	
JUN 21

	Defeats King Joseph at Vitoria; becomes field marshal






	 

	
JUL 25

	First assault on San Sebastián abandoned; city besieged






	 

	
JUL 28–30

	Defeats Soult at Sorauren






	 

	
AUG 31

	Fall of San Sebastián






	 

	
OCT 7

	Crosses Bidassoa river into France






	 

	
NOV 10

	Defeats Soult at the Nivelle






	 

	
DEC 12

	Defeats Soult at the Nive






	1814

	FEB

	Crosses the Ardour and invests Bayonne






	 

	
FEB 27

	Defeats Soult at Orthez






	 

	
MAR 12

	Captures Bordeaux






	 

	
APR 10

	Defeats Soult at Toulouse






	 

	
MAY 3

	Created Duke of Wellington






	 

	
MAY 4

	Reviews troops in Paris with Louis XVIII






	 

	
JUN 14

	Bids farewell to troops at Bordeaux






	 

	
JUN 23

	Returns to England for peace celebrations






	 

	
JUL 5

	Appointed ambassador to France






	
 

	
APR 2

	Deposed by French Senate






	 

	
APR 6

	Abdicates






	 

	
APR 26

	Louis XVIII proclaimed King of France






	 

	
APR 27

	Sails to Elba






	
 

	
NOV 1

	Congress of Vienna opens






	1815

	
FEB 26

	Sails from Elba






	 

	
MAR I

	Lands at Golfe Juan near Cannes






	 

	
MAR 18

	Defection of Marshal Ney






	 

	
MAR 19

	Louis XVIII flees Paris






	 

	
MAR 20

	Enters Tuileries






	 

	
JUN I

	Ceremony of the Champ de Mai






	 

	
JUN 12

	Leaves Paris and heads for the Army of the North






	 

	
JUN 15

	Crosses Belgian frontier; captures Charleroi






	 

	
JUN 16

	Defeats Prussians at Ligny






	 

	
JUN 18

	Defeated by Anglo-Allied and Prussian armies at Waterloo






	 

	
JUN 22

	Abdicates again






	 

	
JUL 7

	Allies enter Paris






	 

	
JUL 15

	Surrenders to Captain Maitland of HMS Bellerophon at Rochefort






	 

	
AUG 7

	Leaves Plymouth on HMS Northumberland for St Helena






	 

	
OCT 17

	Lands at St Helena






	 

	
DEC 7

	Marshal Ney shot






	1821

	
MAY 5

	Dies






	1840

	
DEC 15

	Buried at Les Invalides






	 

	
NOV 1

	Congress of Vienna formally opens






	1815

	
FEB 3

	Arrives in Vienna as British plenipotentiary






	 

	
MAR 7

	Congress hears of Napoleon’s escape from Elba






	 

	
MAR 13

	Congress ‘outlaws’ Napoleon






	 

	
MAR 28

	Leaves Vienna






	 

	
APR 4

	Arrives at Anglo-Allied army headquarters at Brussels






	 

	
JUN 15

	Hears of French invasion of Belgium; Duchess of Richmond’s ball






	 

	
JUN 16

	Battle of Quatre Bras






	 

	
JUN 17

	Withdraws to Mont St Jean






	 

	
JUN 18

	Defeats Napoleon at Waterloo






	 

	
JUN 22

	Crosses Belgian border into France






	 

	
JUL 3

	France capitulates by treaty of St Cloud






	 

	
JUL 7

	Allies enter Paris






	 

	
JUL 8

	Louis XVIII restored to French throne






	 

	
OCT 22

	Appointed commander-in-chief of the Allied army of occupation






	 

	
DEC 7

	Marshal Ney shot






	1828

	
JAN 9

	Becomes prime minister






	1830

	
NOV 16

	Resigns premiership






	1852

	
SEP 14

	Dies






	 

	
NOV 18

	Buried at St Paul’s Cathedral










Introduction



It was not the Roman army which conquered Gaul, but Cæsar; it was not the Carthaginian army which, before the gates of Rome, made the Eternal City tremble, but Hannibal.


NAPOLEON


The Emperor Napoleon seemed confident of victory when he breakfasted with his senior generals at Le Caillou farmhouse on the Charleroi–Brussels road at eight o’clock on the morning of Sunday, 18 June 1815. He had feared that the Anglo-Allied army under the Duke of Wellington might have withdrawn from its defensive positions on the ridge of Mont St Jean during the night, but dawn had revealed it still in place. The meal was served on silver plate bearing the imperial arms, and once it was cleared away maps of the area were spread across the table and the council of war began.


‘The army of the enemy is superior to ours by one-fourth,’ Napoleon announced (incorrectly, as in fact the 72,000 French outnumbered the 68,000 Anglo-Allied troops). ‘We have nevertheless ninety chances in our favour, and not ten against us.’ At this, Marshal Ney – ‘the bravest of the brave’ – who had only just arrived, having reconnoitred the Anglo-Allied lines, warned: ‘Without doubt, Sire, provided Wellington be simple enough to wait for you. But I must inform you that his retreat is decided, and that if you do not hasten to attack, the enemy is about to escape from you.’ ‘You have seen wrong,’ the emperor confidently told him, ‘and it is too late now. Wellington would expose himself to certain defeat. He has thrown the dice and they are in our favour.’


Marshal Soult, Napoleon’s chief of staff, was not so sanguine. The previous evening he had urged the emperor to recall Marshal Grouchy, who had been sent off that morning with a very substantial force to chase the Prussian army after its defeat at Napoleon’s hands at the battle of Ligny. As Soult had told a member of his staff, it was ‘a great mistake to separate so large a force of some thirty thousand men from the main army which is facing the English’, and he reiterated this view at the pre-battle conference.1


Soult had fought against Wellington in the Iberian Peninsula, always coming off worst, and consequently held the British army and its commander in high regard. Napoleon now used that fact against him, retorting that ‘Because you have been beaten by Wellington, you consider him a great general. And now I tell you that Wellington is a bad general, that the English are bad troops, and ce sera l’affaire d’un déjeuner.’ (A modern colloquial translation might be: ‘We’ll settle this matter by lunchtime,’ or even ‘This’ll be a picnic.’) It was a brutal put-down, and an unconvinced Soult merely answered: ‘I earnestly hope so.’2


Soult’s views were then supported by General Honoré Reille, the commander of II Corps, who entered the farmhouse in the company of his subordinate commander, Jérôme Bonaparte, Napoleon’s youngest brother. When Napoleon asked Reille, who had also seen much service in the Peninsula, for his views on the British army, he was told:


Well posted, and Wellington knows how to post it, and attacked from the front, I consider the English infantry to be impregnable, owing to its calm tenacity, and its superior aim in firing. Before attacking it with the bayonet, one may expect half the assailants to be brought to the ground. But the English army is less agile, less supple, less expert in manoeuvring than ours. If we cannot beat it by a direct attack, we may do so by manoeuvring.


According to those present, Napoleon had no verbal answer to this, merely rejecting Reille’s warning with a dismissive shrug. General Maximilien Foy, yet another Peninsular veteran, then also interposed to say: ‘Wellington never shows his troops, but if he is yonder, I must warn Your Majesty that the English infantry in close combat is the very devil!’ Foy had been on the losing side in no fewer than eight major engagements against Wellington, with whom he had personally discussed ‘la guerre’ at dinner only the previous October.


Jérôme Bonaparte, meanwhile, warned his brother of a conversation overheard by a Belgian waiter at the King of Spain Inn in nearby Genappe, in which one of Wellington’s staff officers had spoken of the Prussians linking up with the Anglo-Allied army. ‘After such a battle as Fleurus’, Napoleon said of the engagement now called Ligny, ‘the junction between the English and Prussians is impossible for at least two days; besides, the Prussians have Grouchy on their heels.’3 It seems not to have occurred to any except Jérôme, not even to the pessimistic Soult, that the Prussians might start to appear on the French right flank a mere five hours later.


Napoleon then laid down his plan of attack, which was far removed from the tactical manoeuvring called for by Generals Reille, Foy, d’Erlon and others. The Prussian field marshal Prince Blücher had been defeated at Ligny by a direct frontal assault, and now Napoleon wanted to repeat the tactic against Wellington. There would be a brief diversionary attack designed to draw the Anglo-Allied reserves away from the target area on their centre-left. Then, after a massive artillery bombardment, Napoleon’s heavy cavalry, Imperial Guard and reserves would break Wellington’s line and simply roll it up.4 ‘Gentlemen,’ the emperor announced as he rose from the table to summon his mare Marie, the first of several horses he was to ride that day, ‘if my orders are carried out well, tonight we shall sleep in Brussels.’5


Napoleon certainly seems implicitly to have believed it; he had even ordered his robes of state to be brought along for his address to the people of Belgium after his victory. Furthermore, the Old Guard had been ordered to carry their parade dress in their knapsacks for a triumphant entry into Brussels, and the emperor even ordered a well-done shoulder of mutton for his dinner that evening.6


With such seemingly overwhelming evidence of Napoleon’s hubristic behaviour on the morning of the battle, it is hardly surprising that historians have accused him of gross over-confidence, of ‘self-delusion’, even of incipient lunacy. His underestimation of Wellington’s capabilities is regularly held up as a factor to explain his subsequent defeat.7


The duke, meanwhile, was no less confident of success. He was pleased with the fields at Mont St Jean that he had reconnoitred the previous year for just such a defence. They had fine topography and access roads, and, most importantly, the Prussian army was within a few hours’ hard march.8 Early that morning Wellington had received word via his Prussian liaison officer, Baron Philipp von Müffling, that Blücher had ‘put himself at the head of [his] troops, for the purpose of immediately attacking the enemy’s right flank, should Napoleon undertake anything against the Duke’. Referring to a rude remark Napoleon had once made about him, Wellington told Müffling: ‘Now Bonaparte will see how a general of sepoys can defend a position.’ He afterwards stated that he had never taken so much trouble over his troop dispositions, as he knew he could never afford to make the slightest slip in the presence of a general as impressive as Napoleon.


It is understandable that almost all the historians of Waterloo have concluded that, in the words of one of them: ‘Whereas Napoleon consistently misunderstood and underrated Wellington, Wellington was never in doubt about the genius of Napoleon.’9 Yet the reality is not nearly so simple. History might not repeat itself, but historians repeat one another, and the myth has grown up of ludicrous Napoleonic over-confidence. This in turn, almost for the sake of contrast, has spawned a mirror myth of Wellington’s modesty and near-perfect gentlemanliness, always ready to accord Napoleon the first place in the hierarchy of generalship. It is these two myths that the present work sets out to dispel, for the truth is far less straightforward and much more interesting.


Although Napoleon and Wellington never met or corresponded, and fought only one battle against each other, they spoke about one another a great deal both before Waterloo and afterwards. This study of their constantly evolving relationship will show that the received wisdom about Napoleon’s disdain for Wellington’s generalship and Wellington’s respect for Napoleon’s is, despite what was said at Le Caillou, entirely wrong.


We shall see how both Napoleon and Wellington regarded each other’s military ability highly by the time they met at Waterloo. Thereafter both changed their minds and slowly began to damn each other’s martial prowess to the point where – in part through a series of misunderstandings – Napoleon came to loathe Wellington, and rant about his ineptitude. Meanwhile, while maintaining a public stance of great respect for his opponent, Wellington came privately to despise Napoleon both as a general and as a man. This is not a joint biography, but rather a study in beliefs and rivalry, propaganda and rancour.


Napoleon and Wellington were not equals in any sense until they faced each other across the fields of Waterloo. In 1804, when Napoleon was proclaimed Emperor of France, Wellington was merely a knight of the Bath. From 1808 until 1814, when Napoleon was master of Europe, Wellington was only the commander of an expeditionary force in the Iberian Peninsula. Nor was Wellington in any sense the author of Napoleon’s nemesis; that honour must go to the emperor himself when he conceived his plan to invade Russia in 1812. If the relationship between the two men were reflected in a fable it would be that of the hare and the tortoise.


Napoleon’s ambitions were monumental, incorporating Europe, Russia and even the Orient, while Wellington’s were those of the rest of his class and profession, entirely circumscribed by parliamentary government. Yet although their characters are usually described as mirror opposites – romantic Napoleonic genius versus prosaic Wellingtonian practicality – there was a single-minded determination for victory and a tendency to ruthlessness that united them. Napoleon had won sixty of his seventy battles; Wellington had fought far fewer, but had won them all. For both men Waterloo was to be their last.





PART I
The Road to Waterloo



[image: image]





ONE
‘A Fine Time for an
Enterprising Young Man’
1769–1799


The Revolution is over. I am the Revolution.


NAPOLEON


The similarities between Napoleon and Wellington are, at first sight, extraordinary. They were born in the same year – 1769 – although controversy exists in both cases as to the precise day. Wellington is generally thought to have been born on I May, although the accounts of his nursemaid, the local newspapers and the baptismal record in the parish church differ. Similarly the exact date of Napoleon’s birth is contested, but he himself chose 15 August, so it is likely that Wellington was around three months older. Wellington was born in Ireland, the son of a nobleman of English ancestry, part of the Protestant Ascendancy caste that ruled the island for the nearby larger power. Napoleon’s father was one of the noblesse of Corsica who helped administer that island for France. Napoleon was educated away from his birthplace, at a French military academy; so too was Wellington. French was their second language. The Earl of Mornington, Wellington’s father, died when he was twelve. Carlo Buonaparte died when his son Napoleon was fifteen. Both boys had four brothers and three sisters, and were brought up in straitened circumstances by formidable mothers.


In May 1798 Wellington changed his surname from Wesley to Wellesley (it had only a century before been Colley). Two years earlier, Napoléone Buonaparte (formerly Buona Parte) had become Napoléon Bonaparte, although ‘it was one of the little meannesses of English and Royalist writers to insist upon the “u” in order to emphasise his alien origin’.1 Both men chose Hannibal as their ultimate military hero. Both were autodidacts as young officers, setting aside a certain number of hours each day for intellectual self-improvement; they both took Cæsar’s Commentaries on campaign.


They saw their first action within a year of one another: Napoleon in Toulon on 16 September 1793 and Wellington in Holland on 15 September 1794.2 Their greatest big breaks in life came through the good offices of their brothers: Lucien Bonaparte organised the Brumaire coup to make Napoleon first consul in 1799; and Richard Wellesley, the governor-general of British India, gave Wellington independent command in the Second Mahratta War in 1803. Attractive to women and voraciously sexual, neither man enjoyed a happy marriage. They did share two mistresses, however, or more precisely Wellington picked up two of the emperor’s cast-offs. Also, Wellington’s brother married Napoleon’s brother’s ex-wife’s sister-in-law. George Bernard Shaw appreciated the paradoxes, quipping that: ‘An English army led by an Irish general; that might be a match for a French army led by an Italian general.’


As soldiers, both men gave particular regard to topography and the study of maps, and were at ease with mathematics. (Trigonometry had a crucial practical function in enabling them to calculate the height of an escarpment for the benefit of artillery.) Both came to national prominence fighting in peninsulas. But there the similarities cease. For by the time Wellington – as I shall call him throughout – gained his first European command of any great note, in Portugal in 1808, Napoleon was already master of the continent. Yet, in the very meteoric nature of his rise, the seeds of Napoleon’s nemesis were sown.


Since Wellington’s refusal to be overawed by Napoleon primarily stems from his invincible self-assurance, which in turn came largely from the nature of his schooling, it is worth while examining his psychology up to the time, in the summer of 1793, when he, in an action pregnant with symbolism, burned his violin and embarked on a serious professional military career.


Wellington’s remark about the battle of Waterloo having been won on the playing fields of Eton might well not have been a reference to the cricket pitches. An Eton historian, Lionel Cust, believes he was more probably alluding to ‘the mills at Sixpenny Corner’, which was where the boys went to fight one another. It was there, where the Wall Game is now played, that Wellington had a fight with Robert Percy ‘Bobus’ Smith, although sources differ on the outcome.3


In the three years that he was at Eton before being withdrawn, probably but not certainly for financial reasons, Wellington entirely failed to distinguish himself in any capacity. ‘A good-humoured, insignificant youth’ was all a contemporary, the 3rd Lord Holland (admittedly later a political opponent), could remember about him there. Although it might be too hard to call him ‘the fool of the family’, as the Eton beak George Lyttelton did in one of his letters to the author Rupert Hart-Davis, he was intellectually far behind his eldest brother Richard, who had so shone at the school that he chose to be buried there.4


A glance at the Eton College register for the three years that Wellington was a pupil there, from 1781 to 1784, shows how many of his contemporaries were drawn from the aristocracy. Although Winchester and Westminster had rivalled her socially in the past, by the late eighteenth century Eton was pulling away to become, as she unquestionably was by the early nineteenth century, the grandest school in the country. Wellington was educated with the offspring of three dukes, a marquess, thirteen earls, five viscounts, seven barons and a countess whose title was so ancient that it also went through the female line.


His Etonian contemporaries were a colourful lot, and provided a number of his senior officers later on. Robert Meade, son of the 1st Earl Clanwilliam, was a lieutenant-general by 1814, as was William Lumley, son of the 4th Earl of Scarborough. Hugh Craven, son of the 6th Lord Craven, was a colonel in 1814, a major-general in 1825, and shot himself in his house in Connaught Place in 1836 owing to his losses on the racecourse at Epsom. At least his exit was intentional; Lord Barrymore, son of the 6th Earl of Barrymore, died in an accidental explosion of his musket while conveying French prisoners from Folkestone to Dover in 1793. George Evans, son of the 3rd Baron Carbery, died at Reddish’s Hotel in London from a burst blood vessel on New Year’s Eve 1804, and George de Grey, son of the 2nd Baron Walsingham, was burned to death in bed at his home in Upper Harley Street. Robert King, son of the 6th Baron Kingston, was tried at Cork assizes in 1798 for the murder of Henry Fitzgerald, who had eloped with his sister. It was a pretty clear-cut case but, astonishingly even for eighteenth-century justice, he was unanimously acquitted by the House of Lords.


One of Wellington’s school contemporaries, Henry Fitzroy, son of Lord Southampton, married Anne, Wellington’s sister, but he was less fortunate in two others. Lord Holland, son of the 2nd Baron Holland, and Charles Grey, son of Earl Grey, became leading Whigs and political opponents of his. Holland was later a bitter personal critic, describing Wellington in his memoirs as ‘destitute of taste, wit, grace or imagination’, and a man whose vanity even ‘exceeds his ambition’ and who ‘little care[s] what troops he leads or what cause he serves, so that he, richly caparisoned in the front, be the chief pageant of the show and reap the benefit of the victory and the grace of the triumph’.5 (The Whig hostess Lady Holland, an heiress of forceful personality, great beauty and ten thousand pounds a year, had heard Robespierre speak to the National Assembly during her five-year Grand Tour and had been most impressed.) The exaggerated loathing of the Whigs for the man who threatened and finally defeated their idol Napoleon was to be a constant feature throughout Wellington’s career. They emerge from this story not as witty, brilliant, big-hearted Olympians of politico-social mythology, but as quotidian, nit-picking, mean-minded quasi-traitors.


Napoleon went to Brienne Military Academy speaking a Corsican patois and returned speaking French, but there is no suggestion that Wellington had even a smattering of an Irish brogue before attending Eton. Indeed throughout his life Wellington felt himself to be markedly superior to the Irish, once saying, albeit perhaps apocryphally, that they required ‘only one thing to make them the world’s best soldiers. White officers.’6 He is also believed to have quipped that his own Irish birth no more made him an Irishman than being born in a barn made one a horse.


Eton gave Wellington a belief in himself and his capabilities that his ten subsequent years of doing very little indeed entirely failed to dent. There are suggestions that he was taken away from school not because the Wellesleys were too poor after the death of his father the 1st Earl of Mornington in 1781, but because his academic prospects were so unpromising.7 This is somewhat discounted by the fact that Lady Mornington took him to Brussels, where the cost of living was noticeably lower, and where Wellington was taught by a local lawyer.


In 1786 Wellington was sent with an English tutor to the Royal Academy of Equitation at Angers in Anjou in western France, which was almost as much a finishing school as a military academy. He was thus able, in the dying days of the aristocracy-dominated, pre-Revolutionary ancien régime of the Bourbons, to catch a whiff of its splendour, while seemingly not noticing the stench of putrefaction below. ‘How strange it would have been, Sir,’ said a friend sixty years later, ‘if instead of Angers you had been sent to Brienne and brought up with Napoleon!’ Unfortunately Wellington’s severely practical mind failed to speculate on the inherent possibilities, and he merely replied: ‘Yes; but it could hardly have been. Brienne was reserved for Royal Military pupils.’8


Angers Academy left Wellington a lifelong francophile. Not for him the personalised dislike of the French exhibited by Nelson and Blücher, and reminiscent of Sir Francis Drake’s fanatical loathing of the Spanish. Almost the only description we have of Wellington at Angers is of him ‘lying on a sofa playing with a white terrier’, although we know that he came away fluent in written and spoken French and, having met several of Anjou’s nobility, a firm believer in the benefits of aristocratic government, something he upheld for the rest of his life.9 His year in Angers aged seventeen was under the tuition of an unreconstructed admirer of the ancien régime, Marcel de Pignerolle, who brought him into contact with French nobility such as the Ducs de Brissac and de Praslin and the Duchesse de Sabran. (Brissac was later guillotined.)10


‘There is a time of life’, wrote a wise thinker and Tory statesman, ‘when preferences and antipathies are easily implanted, and grow to be ineradicable moral sentiments of maturer years.’11 Such a time was the late adolescence and early adulthood of Wellington. De Pignerolle helped mould his prejudice in favour of Bourbon Legitimism, the ancient government of France, which never left him. The death of de Pignerolle, shot for his opposition to the Revolution, only confirmed Wellington in his opinion. Political views are often formed as a reaction to external events that take place when in adolescence. Pitt the Younger was deeply affected by the American Revolution, which broke out when he was seventeen; Lord Salisbury was infuriated by the repeal of the Corn Laws when he was sixteen; Lenin was radicalised aged seventeen when his elder brother was hanged for attempted regicide; and Margaret Thatcher’s views on Germany could not fail to have been influenced by the events of 1940, which took place when she was fourteen. Wellington was no different.


After Angers, despite his mother’s admonition that ‘anyone can see he has not the cut of a soldier’, Wellington was gazetted a lieutenant in the 73rd Highland Regiment on Christmas Day 1787, but shortly afterwards left for the 76th Regiment, then for the 41st, then for the 33rd, largely for social reasons and to avoid service in the West Indies, which offered few opportunities for promotion or glory but many for illness and an early death. As an aide-de-camp to the lord-lieutenant of Ireland at Dublin Castle, a family-arranged appointment, and as an Irish MP representing his family borough in County Meath after his twenty-first birthday, Wellington simply trod water, showing little capacity for anything very worthwhile. A 438-page book has been written about Napoleon’s ‘genesis’, his intellectual and moral development up to the age of twenty-four. Nothing of the kind could be possible for Wellington. We know that he was musical, taking after his father who, as well as an aristocrat, had been a professor of music at Trinity College, Dublin. He was 5 foot 9 inches tall, slim, with penetrating blue eyes and short curly hair, but by 1793 he was essentially a wallflower-cum-courtier going nowhere in particular in life. Then a Damascene conversion seems to have taken place.


Wellington could simply have sold his violin; he could have given it to a friend or relegated it to a cupboard, but instead he deliberately chose to burn it. We do not know the exact date in the summer of 1793 that it happened, but its message is obvious. The days of organising viceregal picnics were over. He was twenty-four and getting too old for fripperies. France had executed King Louis XVI that January and declared her egalitarian principles to be universal, something the rest of Europe, still largely ruled by their aristocracies, could not accept. In February, Britain formed the First Coalition against Revolutionary France, comprising Austria, Prussia, Holland, Spain and Sardinia. If Wellington was to become a professional soldier, rather than an uninspired amateur, he needed to forswear gambling and hard drinking – which he also did soon afterwards – and take his commission in the 33 rd Foot seriously.12 He would soon be sent on active service abroad, in the Low Countries, India, Spain, Portugal and eventually France itself. Did he resolve to roam while his fiddle burned?


In September 1794, Wellington came under fire for the first time during the ill-fated British expedition to the Low Countries in the War of the First Coalition against Revolutionary France. He was under the overall command of the Duke of York, who was grand but at thirty-one not particularly old, and who was as impressive a military administrator as he was unimpressive a battlefield commander. Wellington distinguished himself in the Low Countries, and came away having learned crucial lessons about how not to fight a campaign.13 Learning much the same lessons at much the same time was Napoleon, who had also been learning many more besides.


If his sense of class superiority was central to Wellington’s psychological make-up, Napoleon was, at least initially, driven by a no lesser sense of racial insecurity, and by the suspicion that his father might have been a traitor to Corsica. ‘I have a presentiment that one day this small island will astonish Europe,’ wrote Jean-Jacques Rousseau in The Social Contract in 1762, and seven years later Napoleon was born.14 Unlike Wellington, who hailed from the upper class, Napoleon was, at least in Corsican terms, upper-middle class. His mother Marie-Letizia Ramolino was the daughter of a military engineer and the half-sister of Joseph Fesch, the archdeacon of Ajaccio Cathedral and a future cardinal. Fesch boasted how ‘never had the Bonaparte family bought oil, wine or bread’, because they owned the land on which it was produced.15 (Fesch later became Napoleon’s ambassador to the Holy See.)


Wellington considered Napoleon not to be a gentleman, but this was not on account of low birth. ‘There are genealogists who would date my family from the Flood and there are people who pretend that I am of plebeian birth,’ said Napoleon about his own social background; ‘the truth lies between these two. The Buonapartes are a good Corsican family, little known for we have hardly ever left our island but much better than the coxcombs who take upon themselves to vilify us.’16 When Wellington spotted this quotation in a book about Napoleon he made a pencil mark in the margin.


Although Napoleon was named after an uncle who had been killed fighting for Corsican independence, he was the first of his parents’ children to be born a French subject. In 1761 the romantic Corsican patriot General Pasquale Paoli had expelled the Genoese, who had hitherto exercised sovereignty over the island. Then in 1768 France bought Corsica from Genoa and invaded. In 1769, the year of Napoleon’s birth, the French defeated Paoli, who fled Corsica for London, where the British Government was considering its own invasion of the island. Had Carlo Buonaparte, a lieutenant and former secretary of Paoli’s, gone over with him, Napoleon would have been brought up in England, with unimaginable historical consequences. Instead, however, in 1770 Carlo made his peace with the French and returned to Ajaccio.


His parents’ friendship with the French governor, M. de Marbeuf, won Napoleon a place at Brienne, one of the twelve new cadet schools set up for sons of the noblesse. He attended Brienne, in the Champagne region, from 1779 to 1784, when he entered the École Militaire as cadet-gentilhomme to study artillery. As a defence against the teasing he had to endure at school as a Corsican whose claims to nobility were at best rather flimsy, Napoleon became a committed Paolist patriot.17


This did not throw him against his father, who died in February 1785 of stomach cancer, and whose accommodation with French rule was probably, like much of Corsica’s, at best short term and opportunist. Paoli seems to have admired the young Napoleon, saying, perhaps apocryphally, that ‘This young man is formed on the ancient model. He is one of Plutarch’s men.’18 However in 1791, when Napoleon asked Paoli to recommend documents from which he could write a history of the Corsican struggle for liberty, Paoli refused on the altogether laudable grounds that history-writing was no occupation for young men. Instead of writing history Napoleon decided to make it, and stood for election for the lieutenant-colonelcy of the 2nd Battalion of Corsican Volunteers, a more powerful post in the island than it sounds. In a contest violent and corrupt even by eighteenth-century small-town Corsican standards – featuring kidnapping, bribery, intimidation and thuggery – Napoleon was elected and his family’s political friends in Paris blocked all investigation into the means.


Paoli, however, was horrified by what he called the ‘corruption and intrigue’ that the Bonaparte family had employed, and within a year Napoleon had broken with him altogether. The Bonapartes were eventually forced by the Paolists to leave Corsica for Toulon, where they arrived on 13 June 1793.19 Within two months the French Royalists – who opposed the regicidal Revolution more than they did the idea of British troops on French soil – handed over Toulon to the Royal Navy. In helping to recapture the vital naval port, Napoleon embarked on the political and military odyssey that ultimately led to Waterloo.


The final break with Paoli, which took place on 3 March 1793, was not just another political event in a life full of such splits. Paoli had introduced Napoleon’s parents to one another, had engaged his schoolboy and adolescent dreams for Corsican liberty, and had fired his early ambitions. Corsican independence was the great international liberal cause of the day; even James Boswell wrote an impassioned book on the subject. His schooling had nonetheless taught Napoleon that France, rather than an island of only three thousand square miles, was the proper stage for someone of his talents. To serve France precluded serving Paoli. On St Helena, Napoleon reminisced how at one stage ‘Paoli urged me to enter the English service, he then had the power of procuring me a commission in as high a rank as I could expect; but I preferred the French because I spoke the language, was of their religion, understood and liked their manners, and I thought the beginning of a revolution a fine time for an enterprising young man.’20 Conspicuously absent from this list was any reference to political principle or Gallic patriotism. Napoleon had been deracinated by his schooling; he was no longer fully Corsican, but he was not yet really wholly French. (Napoleon’s opponent, the writer François René de Chateaubriand, later accused him of being ‘so lavish with French blood because he does not have a drop of it in his veins’.)


Whether or not Napoleon had a country, he certainly had ambition and phenomenal intelligence. Well read, knowledgeable and keen to discuss literature, he ‘studied books like a judge studying evidence in a lawsuit’ (Goethe). An historian of his literary culture regards Napoleon as ‘the young disciple of Rousseau, the young follower of the philosophes, the lover of French classical theatre, the admirer of Ossian’. The odd man out here is definitely Ossian, the ancient Gaelic martial poet ‘discovered’ in the 1760s by the impoverished Scottish writer James Macpherson. Ossian’s poems had supposedly been written 1,500 years previously. Goethe admired Ossian, Boswell thought he ‘excelled Homer’, and Thomas Jefferson thought him ‘the greatest poet that has ever existed’. So Napoleon, who took an Italian translation of Ossian’s poems with him on campaign and had a series of paintings of the scenes from them made for his wife’s palace at Malmaison, was in good company in being taken in by Macpherson’s elaborate literary hoax. Only Dr Samuel Johnson denounced the poems as forgeries, and, when asked whether he thought any modern man could have written them, answered: ‘Yes, sir, many men, many women, and many children.’21


We know the books from which Napoleon made notes during his schooldays, including Machiavelli’s Histoire de Florence, Voltaire’s Essai sur les moeurs, Mirabeau’s Sur les lettres de cachet and Barrow’s Histoire nouvelle et impartiale d’Angleterre, and it is clear from these, from his recorded table-talk and from many of his actions that he possessed a fantastically powerful brain and cultured sensibility. Here is a man who attended the tragic play Iphigénie en Aulide no fewer than ten times, Cinna twelve times, Andromaque nine times, Phèdre ten times, Hector six times, Mort de César and Mort de Pompée five times each. Small wonder therefore that he saw himself in the classical military tradition.22


Napoleon made sure he had a front-row place at the most terrible event of the era, the French Revolution. He was a spectator at the storming of the Tuileries royal palace on 10 August 1792, where the King’s Swiss Guard was massacred and after which the royal family was imprisoned. He later said that Louis XVI could have ended the Revolution there and then, ‘if only he had got on his horse’. But the virility of earlier days had been replaced by sterility or even lunacy in almost all the courts of Europe. No amount of genius could have permitted Napoleon to impose his will on the Europe of Frederick the Great of Prussia (reg 1740–86), Louis XV (reg 1715–74), Catherine the Great of Russia (reg 1762–96), Maria Theresa of Austria (reg 1740–80) and George III of England (reg 1760–1820), who had together controlled the continent in the 1760s and 1770s. Yet, a mere sixteen years after 1780, Frederick had been replaced by the weak Frederick William, Catherine by the foolish Tsar Paul, and King George III had gone insane. (Austria took another generation to produce a near-imbecilic ruler, in Emperor Ferdinand, who was described by Lord Palmerston as ‘the next thing to an idiot’, and whose best-known announcement was ‘I am the Emperor and I want dumplings!’) By the 1790s, therefore, its leadership ensured that Europe was ripe for anarchy and war. The age made Napoleon quite as much as Napoleon made it.


One of the reasons why France succeeded in dominating Europe militarily is that she had a vast population relative to her neighbours. In 1780 the figures were roughly as follows (in millions): France 25.1, Great Britain 9.5, Prussia 5.4, Austria 20.2, Italy 12.8, Spain 9.9 and Russia 26.8. With national conscription of a substantially larger population than other racially cohesive western European countries, France would have found herself in a strong position militarily even without Napoleon. For all the logistical problems of the Russian campaign of 1812, for example, the difference in the two countries’ populations was not so marked.


Napoleon’s rise to power could hardly have been more meteoric. In December 1793, a supporter of the Revolution and aged only twenty-four, he was instrumental in recapturing Toulon from the Royalists and the British navy, and he was promoted général de brigade. Only three months later he was given command of the artillery of the Army of Italy, an important theatre of war as France tried to export her revolutionary principles to a rich peninsula the northern part of which was keen to throw off the yoke of Austria. France had been at war with Austria since April 1792, and with Sardinia since the following July, and it was felt that the heaviest blows could be dealt against them in Italy. After a brief but presumably terrifying period in prison at Antibes on suspicion of treason, he was back with the army. By 16 October 1795 he was a général de division, and ten days later he was promoted to command the Army of the Interior. Only five months after that, still aged just twenty-six, Napoleon was appointed to command the Army of Italy.


There were many reasons to explain his rise, relating to the military situation, other generals and French domestic politics, which had little or nothing to do with Napoleon, but the fact remains that he was the right man at the right time, as his brilliant series of victories in April 1796 over the Austrians and Sardinians at Montenotte, Millésimo, Dego and Mondovi all immediately bore witness. Yet just as Shakespearean tragic heroes have a fatal flaw, almost unnoticeable at the time of their greatness, the speed of Napoleon’s promotion from chef de bataillon (major), achieved in October 1793, to commander-in-chief of the Army of Italy in March 1796 left him with an Achilles heel. He never handled infantry in combat at regimental level.


‘I do not believe in the proverb that in order to be able to command one must know how to obey,’ said Napoleon, and from 1796, and certainly after the coup d’état of 18th Brumaire, Year VIII (9 November 1799) which installed him as a consul, and soon afterwards as first consul, he only ever had to obey his own instincts, or (much more occasionally) his conscience. His successes on the field of battle had marked him out for political advancement in a France sick of the Terror and desperate for stability, yet his lack of experience at the regimental level was to cost him dear at Waterloo. Whereas Wellington could, and did, enter into the thick of the fighting and take over the command of individual regiments, such as Maitland’s Foot Guards, understanding precisely how such troops could be handled to best effect, Napoleon had spent too long with grand strategy and with maintaining overall morale to know what he could realistically expect even from the Imperial Guard, which he all but wasted during the battle. When on the morning of Waterloo Napoleon’s generals begged for manoeuvrability rather than a massed assault, they were demonstrating their experience of warfare at the regimental and company level. Yet Napoleon, who had almost none, overruled them. His experience of company-level action was virtually confined to the suppression of riots, in Lyon in August 1786, Seurre in April 1789, Auxonne in July 1789, Ajaccio in June 1793 and, most famously, the ‘whiff of grapeshot’ he administered to the Parisian Royalists in putting down the ‘Day of the Sections’ attempted coup in October 1795.23


For twenty years none of this would matter, as Napoleon imposed his genius upon Europe as army commander, then consul, then first consul for life. In one of those superb coincidences in which history abounds, in the same week in May 1804 that Napoleon was proclaimed emperor of the French by the Senate and Tribunate, his greatest British political opponent William Pitt the Younger returned to office as prime minister. Wellington, meanwhile, had to content himself that September with a mere knighthood.


Already by 1804 the scene was therefore set for the next decade. Napoleon, the meteor, was master of France, yet for all his great genius the seeds of his future destruction were being sown. He had never learned how to handle infantry at regimental level and all that he had learned about supply lines and not relying on living off the land on campaign he was starting to forget as victory piled upon victory and his ambitions stretched further and further afield. Meanwhile Wellington’s campaigns in India had taught him lessons that were to prove invaluable a decade hence.





TWO
Apprenticeship at Arms
1799–1805


At twenty-nine years of age I have exhausted everything. It only remains for me to become a complete egoist.


NAPOLEON


The remark Wellington made to Müffling on the morning of Waterloo – that he would show Napoleon what a ‘sepoy general’ was capable of – demonstrates that the emperor’s dismissive description must have hit home. It was a common enough assumption made by soldiers who had never served in India that campaigning there did not quite constitute real soldiering. Even in the British Empire those soldiers whose primary experience had been in India were often, very unfairly, deemed second rate. As one of Wellington’s military textbooks plaintively put it: ‘An English general, who returns from India, is like an admiral who has been navigating the Lake of Geneva.’ Yet the British army had been fighting in defence of the East India Company’s interests in the sub-continent for over half a century, and very successfully.


In a tale told by Sir William Fraser, a collector of Wellingtonian anecdotes, when Napoleon heard about Wellington’s victory over the Mahrattas at the battle of Assaye in September 1803, he exclaimed: ‘That is the man with whom I shall have to deal.’ When the 2nd Duke of Wellington tried to ascertain the story’s provenance from Fraser while out riding in Hyde Park years later, all Fraser could say was that he ‘was quite sure that I heard it on some very good authority’.1 In fact it sounds like a typical example of the ‘destiny-anecdote’ of a type well known to historians. The story is most probably as apocryphal as another one in which Paoli was supposed to have told Napoleon to ‘Go forth and be the successor of Alexander.’ One should always view with caution stories in which two antagonists ‘destined’ to meet years later are reported to have made fateful predictions about one another.


Assaye was, however, a brilliantly fought engagement – indeed, along with the battle of Nivelle in 1813, Wellington himself rated it his best. He attacked an enemy force of forty thousand across a river with only seven thousand men, and had one horse bayoneted and another shot from under him. ‘I never saw a man so cool and collected,’ recollected a staff officer afterwards. For all his coolness at the time, that night he seems to have suffered from what today might be termed a form of post-traumatic stress disorder. ‘I slept in a farmyard,’ he later recalled, ‘and whenever I awakened, it struck me that I had lost all my friends, so many had I lost in that battle. Again and again, as often as I awakened, did it disturb me. In the morning I enquired anxiously after one and another; nor was I convinced that they were living till I saw them.’2


Wellington deserved far better than to be dismissed by Napoleon as a ‘sepoy general’, not least because sepoys – the Indian private soldiers serving under the British – were in the main excellent fighting men, something Napoleon never really appreciated. Moreover, as a result of campaigns such as the Mahratta Wars, Wellington and his brother Richard Wellesley, the governor-general of India and later 1st Marquess Wellesley, were able to annex a larger territory than the whole of Napoleon’s conquests in Europe to an empire that was to last much longer.3 His soldiering in India taught Wellington, as he put it, that ‘Articles of provision are not to be trifled with, or left to chance.’ Indian armies that did not properly organise supply simply starved, and Wellington – who had commanded a sepoy army of over fifty thousand by the time of his thirty-fifth birthday – put the lessons he learned there to invaluable use in the Iberian Peninsula from 1808.


Napoleon’s dismissal of Wellington’s Indian service came from his automatic assumption of the inferiority of non-white troops in general, which his expedition to Egypt in order to threaten British India in 1798 had done nothing to dispel. At the battle of the Pyramids that July, when he was trying to subdue Egypt, Napoleon lost only thirty men against two thousand of the Mameluke enemy killed, and captured four hundred camels and fifty cannon. He told his troops before the battle that forty centuries were contemplating their efforts in the shadow of the Pyramids, and he took it entirely for granted that a white army would defeat a black one. He was deeply unimpressed in 1801 when he sent his brother-in-law General Victor Emmanuel Leclerc to San Domingo (modern-day Haiti) to oust the black dictator Toussaint l’Ouverture, and Leclerc failed, dying in the attempt.


In a conversation on St Helena with Captain Basil Hall, RN, who was returning from China and India in 1817, Napoleon ‘adverted in a careless way to our news from India, and spoke of the Mahratta War as a circumstance of no importance’.4 He had long assumed that he needed only to have presented himself on the borders of India with a relatively small army for the whole sub-continent to fall to him. ‘The time is not far distant when we shall feel that, in order truly to destroy England, we must occupy Egypt,’ Napoleon informed the French government, the Directory, in August 1797, long before he was appointed to command the Army of the Orient. As early as 1788 he had annotated a book on Turkish warfare with the words: ‘Through Egypt we shall invade India, we shall reestablish the old route through Suez, and cause the route by the Cape of Good Hope to be abandoned.’ Meanwhile Wellington had the previous year recognised the French threat, writing that As long as France have an establishment in Mauritius, Great Britain cannot call herself safe in India. They will come here to seek service in the armies of the native princes, and all Frenchmen in such a situation are equally dangerous.’5


It was Napoleon’s plan, after taking Egypt, to join forces with the anglophobic Tipu Sultan of Mysore in south-west India, in order to attack the British. Packing James Rennell’s Bengal Atlas containing maps of the Theatre of War and Commerce on that side of Hindoostan (1781), Napoleon sailed for Egypt on 19 May 1798. By mid-September Wellington’s brother Richard Wellesley had received orders from London to require ‘a satisfactory explanation’ of Tipu’s conduct, and if Tipu mobilised his army he was authorised to ‘carry our arms into our enemy’s country’.


If Napoleon had not heard of Wellington at this early stage in their careers, he would undoubtedly have known of his eldest brother, Richard Wellesley the 2nd Earl of Mornington. A committed empire-builder and foe of France, Wellesley was keen to invade Mysore. The secretary for war, Henry Dundas, had been warned by his spy the Abbé de Lisle, via a source in Frankfurt, that Tipu and Zeman Shah, the ruler of Afghanistan, had both been promised troops by Napoleon to use against Britain.6


On 1 August 1798 Admiral Nelson, having missed Napoleon’s original disembarkation at Aboukir Bay near Alexandria in Egypt by only a matter of days, had caught up with and destroyed the French fleet there at the battle of the Nile. Only two of the thirteen French ships-of-the-line escaped. Diving research on the fleet has confirmed that Admiral Brueys had left far too large a gap between his fleet and the shore, through which Nelson manoeuvred his ships. The sarcasm dripped from Richard Wellesley’s pen as he informed Tipu of the victory: ‘Confident from the union and attachment subsisting between us that this intelligence will afford you sincere satisfaction, I could not deny myself the pleasure of communicating it.’7 A letter from Napoleon written ten weeks later told Tipu that he had ‘arrived on the coasts of the Red Sea with an innumerable and invincible army, filled with the desire to deliver you from the iron yoke of England’. In fact Napoleon only had thirteen thousand men and was about to be halted by the British admiral Sir Sidney Smith at the walls of the crusader city of Acre. By the time the letter arrived at Seringapatam four months later, Tipu was dead and Wellington was its governor.


It is not hard to guess how long Tipu might have fared as an independent sovereign had Napoleon triumphed at Acre. ‘France, being mistress of Egypt, would also regain mastery of Hindoostan’, Napoleon later opined when in exile on the island of St Helena. At the time he wrote of sixty thousand men and fifty thousand camels reaching the Euphrates in forty days and joining forces with the Sikhs and Mahrattas to destroy the British in India, in what he portrayed as a relatively straightforward campaign.8 He often returned to the subject. In 1808 he instructed his ambassador in Moscow, General Armand de Caulaincourt, to tell the tsar ‘that I am seriously considering an expedition to India and a partition of the [Turkish] Ottoman Empire. To carry out this project, I would march an army of twenty to twenty-five thousand Russians, eight to ten thousand Austrians, and thirty-five to forty thousand French into Asia and thence to India. Nothing is easier than this operation.’9


Even when he was about to embark on the road to Moscow in 1812 Napoleon told his war minister, the Comte de Narbonne, that:


this long road is the road to India. Alexander left from as far away as Moscow to reach the Ganges. … I imagine Moscow taken, Russia overthrown, the Tsar reconciled or murdered by a palace plot, a new or dependent throne perhaps; and tell me if it is not possible for a large army of Frenchmen and auxiliaries to leave Tiflis and gain access to the Ganges, and that the touch of a French sword is all that is needed for the framework of mercantile grandeur to collapse.10


That is all that British India was to Napoleon – ‘mercantile grandeur’ – and men like Wellington who were busy defending and extending it were mere ‘sepoy generals’ whose armies would collapse at ‘the touch of a French sword’. There is no real reason why Napoleon, now first consul, should have particularly concerned himself with the activities of the Indian governor-general’s younger brother in 1800, while he was occupied smashing the Austrians thousands of miles away in Italy, but if he had he would have noticed a ruthlessness and willingness to scorch earth that was a decade later to turn his forces back from the heavily fortified Lines of Torres Vedras in Portugal.


Although he was later renowned for his clemency and dislike of war, in May 1800 Wellington ordered the commander of a punitive expedition to Malabar in India to burn the Mapilla tribes’ villages and carry off their property and livestock. He explained this policy of near-extermination in the following chilling, if compelling, terms: ‘The confidence of our native troops will be increased and that of their opponents diminished.’11
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